



STATE BAR ASSOCIATION OF NORTH DAKOTA CONSTITUTION

Amended: June 2009

ARTICLE 1 NAME

The name of this Association is State Bar Association of North Dakota.

ARTICLE 2 MISSION

The mission of the Association is to serve the lawyers and the people of North Dakota, to improve professional competence, promote the administration of justice, uphold the honor of the profession of law, and encourage cordial relations among members of the State Bar.
Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

ARTICLE 3 MEMBERSHIP

3.1 The membership of the Association consists of every person who has secured a current annual license to practice law in this state from the State Board of Law Examiners, or who has an unrevoked certificate of admission to the Bar of the State of North Dakota and who has paid to the Association an annual membership fee as established by the Board of Governors. Members who are suspended or disbarred are thereby suspended as members of the Association during the continuance of such suspension or disbarment. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 1996. Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.*

3.2 The members of the Association who have not secured a current annual license to practice law in this state are entitled to all of the rights and privileges of the Association, except that they are not entitled to vote at the meetings or to serve as an officer of the Association.

ARTICLE 4 OFFICERS

4.1 The officers of the Association are the President, President-Elect, and Secretary-Treasurer. The terms of office of the President and President-Elect are one year commencing at the close of an annual meeting and ending at the close of the next succeeding annual meeting. The term of the Secretary-Treasurer is two years.

4.2 A President-Elect shall be elected as described in 4.7 below at each annual meeting, and assume office at the close of that annual meeting.

4.3 The President-Elect shall succeed to the office of President upon the expiration of the term of the prior President, or upon that President's death, resignation, or disability.

4.4 If a President-Elect succeeds to the office of President by reason of the death, resignation, or disability of the sitting President, the President-Elect who thus succeeds to the Presidency shall serve as President for the remainder of the Association year in which that succession occurred, and for the next Association year.

4.5 In the event of the death, resignation, or disability of the President-Elect, the membership shall fill the vacancy by election to be held as soon as possible in a manner determined by the Board of Governors.

4.6 The Secretary-Treasurer shall be elected as described in 4.7 below at each annual meeting falling in an odd numbered year. In the event of the death, resignation, or disability of the Secretary-Treasurer the Board of Governors shall designate a successor who shall serve the unexpired term of office.

4.7 Any member who has secured a current license to practice law as described in Article 3 may vote for any officer of the Association by absentee ballot. Absentee ballot shall mean by mail or electronic balloting methods and within time frames developed, approved and supervised by the Board of Governors. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2000.* Candidates appearing on the ballot shall be nominated by petition signed by at least five other members of the Association and received by the Association at least 50 days before the General Assembly meeting. During the election at the annual meeting, the absentee ballots will be counted in the same manner as the votes cast by the members at the meeting. Members who have voted by absentee ballot may not vote at the meeting. In the event that no candidate is nominated by petition or in the event that a nominated candidate has stepped down or is otherwise unable to serve, nominations from the floor will be allowed. *Amended at the Annual Meeting in 2004.*

ARTICLE 5 BOARD OF GOVERNORS

5.1 The Board of Governors consists of: the President, the President-Elect, the Secretary-Treasurer and the Immediate Past President of the Association; the Association's elected delegate to the House of Delegates of the American Bar Association; a representative from each judicial district of the State of North Dakota, determined according to procedures specified in the By-Laws; a member of the Young Lawyers Section selected by that Section; and the Dean of the Law School of the University of North Dakota. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2009*

5.2 The President, President-Elect, the Secretary-Treasurer, and the Immediate Past President constitute an executive committee of the Board of Governors. The executive committee is empowered to act for the Board of Governors in an emergency or when a meeting of the Board is impractical.

5.3 A majority of the members of the Board of Governors constitutes a quorum, and each member of the Board of Governors present at

the meeting is entitled to one vote on any matter to come before the Board.

ARTICLE 6 DUTIES OF THE OFFICERS

6.1 The President shall exercise the powers and perform the duties assigned to the President by law and the Constitution and By-Laws of the Association. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association, shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Board of Governors, shall generally supervise its affairs, and shall report regularly to the Association and the Board of Governors.

6.2 In the event of the absence of the President or an inability to act, the duties of the President shall be preformed by the President-Elect. If neither the President nor the President-Elect is present the Board of Governors shall select one of its members to act.

6.3 The duties of the Secretary-Treasurer shall be those prescribed in the By-Laws.

ARTICLE 7 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS

7.1 The management of the affairs of this Association is vested in the Board of Governors.

7.2 The Board of Governors may adopt, amend or rescind rules of general application to the membership, including, but not limited to, rules of professional conduct and continuing legal education, upon thirty days published notice of the substance of the proposed rule in an official publication of the Association. Any such rule may be rescinded by action of the general membership upon resolution. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

**ARTICLE 8
MEETINGS**

8.1 This Association shall meet at least once a year at such time as shall be designated for that purpose by the Board of Governors.

8.2 The President of this Association may, with the concurrence of a majority of the Board of Governors, call a special meeting of the Association.

8.3 The Association shall publish notice of any annual or special meeting in an official publication of the Association not later than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the meeting.
Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005

8.4 A quorum at any regular meeting or special meeting consists of twenty-five members.

**ARTICLE 9
COMMITTEES & SECTIONS**

9.1 The President shall appoint standing committees as provided for in the By-Laws of this Association.

9.2 The objects of the Association may be implemented by Sections established by the Board of Governors and consisting of members of the Association having a special interest in any phase of the law or bar activity. The duties and responsibilities of the various sections shall be as prescribed in the By-Laws.

**ARTICLE 10
INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM**

10.1 Association members, by a petition signed by not less than 5% of the membership of the Association, may initiate a proposal or refer a matter to the vote of all members of the Association on matters relating to the governing of the Association, policies of the Association, support or opposition to proposed legislation or court rule, a subject of public interest on which the profession has expertise, or endorsement of candidates for judicial office, unless the matter to be proposed or referred is prohibited by law.

10.2 A petition shall contain the entire subject matter of the proposal, shall not exceed two hundred fifty words, shall require, "yes" or "no" vote, and be filed with the Association.

10.3 No petition to refer permitted in paragraph 10.1 is valid unless filed with the Association within thirty (30) days after the date of publication in an official publication of the Association of the action taken by the Board of Governors.

10.4 Should any petition to initiate or refer be approved or adopted by the Board of Governors within fifteen (15) days of its filing no vote of the members is required.

10.5 An initiative or referendum petition not approved or adopted by the Board of Governors shall be submitted to a vote of the members by mail ballot within thirty (30) days after the filing of the petition.

10.6 The procedures for a mail ballot shall be prescribed by the Board of Governors.

10.7 The Board of Governors may include a statement of its position on the matter, and the cost of implementing it, with the ballot.

10.8 Mail ballots shall be tallied as prescribed by the Board of Governors and shall be canvassed by the President or designees approved by the Board of Governors. The result of the vote shall be published in the next official publication of the Association.

10.9 A favorable vote by a majority of the members voting on a petition to initiate or refer a matter shall bind the Association until changed by a vote of the members.

10.10 When a petition to initiate or refer a matter has been defeated by a vote of the members, no petition addressing the same matter shall be filed for a period of one year from the date of publication of the result of the vote thereon.

ARTICLE 11
AMENDMENTS

11.1 This Constitution may be amended at any meeting upon a two-thirds vote of the members who have voted upon amendments which have been proposed and filed with the Association. Notice to the members of the form and content of any proposed amendment shall be published in not less than two official Association publications prior to action on such amendment. The notice shall include notice of the meeting at which action upon the proposed amendment is to be taken. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

11.2 Any member who has secured a current license to practice law as described in Article 3 may vote upon amendments proposed and filed with the Association, following the notice provided in Article 11.1, by absentee ballot. Absentee ballot shall mean by mail or electronic balloting methods and within time frames developed, approved and supervised by the Board of Governors. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2000.*



State Bar Association
of North Dakota

STATE BAR ASSOCIATION OF NORTH DAKOTA BY-LAWS

1. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS

1.1 The Board of Governors shall manage the affairs of this Association.

1.2 The Board of Governors shall provide a least annually for a financial audit of the Association.

1.3 The Board of Governors shall meet at least six times per year.

2. DUTIES OF THE OFFICERS

2.1 The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Board of Governors, and exercise the powers and perform the duties assigned to the office by law and the Constitution and By-Laws of the Association.

2.2 The President-Elect shall perform all of the duties and have all the powers of the President when, for any reason, the President is unable to act. If the President and the President-Elect are absent or unable to act, the Board of Governors shall select one of its members to act in the place of the President.

2.3 The Secretary-Treasurer shall: (A) maintain the official record of the proceedings of the Association and of the Board of Governors; (B) serve on the Committee designated to prepare the Association's annual budget; (C) file annually with the State Board of Law Examiners a statement of receipts and disbursements as required by law; (D) present the annual financial audit to the Board of Governors; and (E) perform all other duties imposed upon him/her by law and the Constitution and By-Laws of the Association.

3. REPRESENTATIVES OF JUDICIAL DISTRICTS

3.1 If a district bar association holds a formal meeting, with notice to all members in the district, more than 75 days prior to the annual meeting, the representative may be elected at that meeting rather than by the ballot procedure set forth herein.

3.2 Unless one is elected under Paragraph 3.1, a representative from each judicial district to serve on the Board of Governors of the Association shall be selected by a district election conducted by the Association. All members of the Association within each district, determined by the addresses of record appearing on the official roster of licensed lawyers maintained by the North Dakota Bar Board on the sixtieth (60th) day prior to the close of the annual meeting at which the member elected would take office as a member of the Board of Governors, are eligible to vote. The member shall be elected for a term of two years, beginning at the close of the annual meeting following the member's election. The member may not serve more than two consecutive elected terms. This limitation does not prohibit someone from serving multiple terms, so long as they are not consecutive. *Revised June 14, 2017, Board of Governors meeting*

3.2-1 Each district election shall be by ballot provided by the Association to each member eligible to vote in that district. Ballots shall be provided at least thirty (30) days before the annual meeting at the close of which the member to be elected is to begin to serve; each member may vote by marking the ballot with a vote for one of the nominees appearing thereon and returning the authenticated ballot to the Association, according to the authentication directions provided with it, at least twenty (20) days before that annual meeting.

3.2-2 The nominees appearing on a district ballot shall be those members of the Association eligible to vote in

that district who have been nominated by a petition, signed by at least five other members of the Association eligible to vote in that district, received by the Association at least fifty (50) days prior to the annual meeting at the close of which the elected member's term will begin, and containing the following information: (A) the judicial district for which the member's name is submitted; (B) the nominee's address as shown on the official Bar Board list; (C) the name of each nominating member; and (D) each nominating member's official Bar Board address. Each nominee must consent to be nominated by signing the petition.

3.3 The rotation of election of district representatives shall be that in effect as to district bar presidents at the time these By-Laws are adopted. Should any district's boundary change, or should any new districts be created, any affected district shall elect a representative by the procedures described in these By-Laws upon a schedule announced by the President; the representative so elected shall serve a term of one year or two years, determined by the Board of Governors as constituted prior to the redistricting. That determination shall be made as necessary to keep as near an equal number of judicial district representative seats subject to election per year as possible. The determination shall be announced by the President with the schedule for the election.

3.4 The results of each district election shall be provided to each nominee as soon as available, shall be announced at the annual meeting following the election, and shall be printed in an official Association publication following the annual meeting at which the announcement is made.

3.5 Should any judicial district representative's seat on the Board of Governors become vacant for any reason, the President shall within thirty (30) days, with the concurrence of the remaining members of the Board, appoint a member eligible to vote in the district having the vacancy to fill the unexpired balance of the term.

3.6 Should a judicial district fail in timely fashion to nominate any eligible candidates, the President assuming office at the close of the annual meeting at which the district's elected representative would have begun to serve shall, within thirty (30) days and with the concurrence of the new Board of Governors, appoint a member eligible to vote in that district to a term on the Board; the term shall begin with the appointment and end at the close of the second annual meeting to occur thereafter.

3.7 Should only one eligible member be timely nominated for election as a judicial district's representative to the Board of Governors, the district election shall be canceled and the sole nominee shall be declared elected.

4. COMMITTEES

4.1 The Board of Governors at its discretion may constitute standing committees to assist in its supervision, management, and control of the affairs of the Association; the responsibilities and powers of each such committee are those appropriate to its purposes as provided by the Board of Governors in the resolution constituting them or in subsequent resolutions and directives. Each committee constituted may be disbanded by the Board of Governors. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

4.2 The President-Elect shall, except as otherwise expressly provided, appoint the chair and members of all committees as follows: At least thirty (30) days prior to the annual meeting of the Association, the President-Elect shall announce the names of the committee chairs to serve for the ensuing year and until the next annual meeting of the Association, and the names of the new members of the various committees. The appointments are effective at the end of the annual meeting. The appointments shall also be published in the first issue of an official publication of the Association published following the annual meeting of the Association.

4.3 Unless otherwise prescribed in the Constitution and By-Laws or in the authority creating any committee, the membership of any committee shall be constituted so that there are three classes of nearly equal number with

the terms to be staggered. One-third of the prescribed number of members shall be appointed annually, but any committee chair who has served as such for three consecutive years may not be reappointed chair until one year after the expiration of the term.

4.4 Each committee of the Association shall transmit a proposal for committee activities and a budget request for the next ensuing year.

4.5 Each committee of the Association shall make a report in writing to the membership of the Association at the annual meeting summarizing its actions during the preceding year and making any suggestions relating to its powers, duties or activities, which reports shall be filed with the Association not later than thirty (30) days prior to the annual meeting. Each committee of the Association shall make periodic reports if requested by the President, the Board of Governors, or the Association.

5. SECTIONS

5.1 The sections have the following powers: (A) adopt and amend By-Laws, subject to approval of the Board of Governors and not inconsistent with the Constitution or the By-Laws of this Association, providing for the election of officers, assessment of dues, and the administration of the section; (B) receive allocation from the Association; and (C) accept applications for membership from members of the Association and other interested persons.

5.2 Non-lawyers having an educational, professional, or commercial interest in the activities of a Section may be accepted as non-voting members of the Section upon payment of not less than Section dues established for members of the Association.

5.3 The sections have the following duties and responsibilities: (A) make an annual report to the annual meeting of the Association; and (B) cooperate with officers and the Board of Governors of the Association and coordinate

their activities with appropriate committees of the Association.

5.4 A section which is inactive and which has not elected officers in two consecutive years may be dissolved by action of the Board of Governors. Funds remaining in the account of such section shall be credited to the bar Association general account for use at the discretion of the board of Governors.

5.5 The President, with the approval of the Board of Governors, shall appoint members of the Board as liaison to the respective sections.

6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

6.1 The Board of Governors may appoint an Executive Director. The Board of Governors shall fix the compensation of the Executive Director and provide an office and other facilities as it thinks proper. The Executive Director may be removed by the Board of Governors.

6.2 The Executive Director shall: (A) prepare an annual budget for the Association for consideration by the Board of Governors and shall present the budget as approved by the Board to the annual meeting; (B) prepare and publish summaries of the minutes of proceedings of the Association and the Board of Governors; (C) receive all funds of the Association and make disbursements there from as necessary and as required by the Board; (D) unless the Board of Governors determines that the coverage is not available, provide fidelity bond in favor of the Association in an amount determined by the Board of Governors, the premium for which shall be paid by the Association; and (E) perform all duties imposed by law and the Constitution and By-Laws of the Association. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

7. NOTICE TO THE ASSOCIATION

All notices, petitions or other documents required by the Constitution or By-Laws of the Association to be filed with or delivered to the Association shall be addressed or delivered to the Executive Director.

8. OFFICIAL ASSOCIATION PUBLICATIONS

Official publications of the Association include any written communication mailed or emailed to the members of the Association. In determining its membership for this purpose it is sufficient for the Association to refer to the current roster of members maintained in good faith by the Association. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005. Revised June 14, 2017, Board of Governors meeting*

9. ASSESSMENT

Assessments may be made upon resolution adopted by a majority vote at an annual meeting or at any special meeting of those members who voted if due notice is given in the call for the special meeting that an assessment will be proposed if funds to which the Association is entitled under Section 27-12-04 NDCC, and all funds from other sources, are insufficient to meet the obligations of the Association. Assessments may not exceed one hundred (\$100.00) per year for each member. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

10. NOMINATION TO THE STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS

For each appointment to be made to the State Board of Law Examiners pursuant to the provisions of Section 27-11-06 of the NDCC, the Board of Governors shall act for the Association. *Amended at Annual Meeting in 2005*

11. MEMBERS OF HOUSE OF DELEGATES OF AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION

There shall be elected in each even-numbered year one delegate to represent the Association in the House of Delegates of the American Bar Association who will hold office for a period of two years ending at the adjournment of the

annual meeting of the American Bar Association in even-numbered years, or until a successor has been elected by the State Bar Association. Duties of the ABA Delegate are those prescribed by the American Bar Association and the State Bar Association. The Delegate shall attend all meetings of the House of Delegates of the American Bar Association called during the term of office or until a successor is elected.

There shall also be elected in even-numbered years a Young Lawyer to represent the Association in the House of Delegates of the American Bar Association. The delegate must be admitted to his or her first bar within the past five years, or be less than 36 years old at the beginning of his or her term. The delegate must be an ABA member in good standing throughout his or her tenure as delegate. (The delegate will be elected at an Annual Meeting of the Association from a slate of one or more eligible candidates selected by the Associations' Young Lawyers Section). The term of the first delegate begins immediately, and expires at the conclusion of the 2018 ABA Annual Meeting. The delegate will hold office for a period of two years, and may be re-elected until such time as they do not qualify for the position. *[Amended April 2016]*

12. RESOLUTIONS

12.1 The Executive Director shall publish in an official publication a call for resolutions not later than 60 days before the date of the general or special election where such resolution is to be considered. *Approved at Annual Meeting in 2005*

12.2 Any substantive resolution proposed by a member of the Association for consideration at any general or special meeting shall be filed with the Executive Director of the Association at least 30 days prior to the date of the meeting. The Executive Director shall mail notice to the membership of all properly filed resolutions not later than 7 calendar days before the date of the general or special meeting of the Association. *Approved at Annual Meeting in 2005*

12.3 Any substantive resolution approved by the Board of Governors for consideration at a general or special meeting of the Association must comply with the language of § 12.2 of these By-Laws but will be

deemed filed when approved by the Board of Governors. *Approved at Annual Meeting in 2005*

approved and supervised by the Board of Governors.

14.3 Any amendment to these By-Laws adopted under Paragraph 14.2 above shall not thereafter be amended or repealed under Paragraph 14.1 above.

13. CONDUCT OF MEETING

13.1 The meetings of the State Bar Association of North Dakota, the Board of Governors of the Association, and the sections and the committees of the Association shall be governed by Roberts Rules of Order. At the beginning of the fiscal year the President may designate an individual member of the Board of Governors to act as parliamentarian during that year and shall designate a member of the Association to act as parliamentarian at the annual meeting(s) of the Association during that fiscal year.

13.2 A roll call vote shall be taken by the Board of Governors on all matters other than procedural matters.

13.3 Board meetings may be conducted by electronic means by which participants can hear and be heard.

14. AMENDMENT

14.1 These By-Laws may be amended by the Board of Governors of the Association at any regular meeting; but only if the proposed amendment was considered by the Board of Governors at a preceding meeting and notice was given in an official publication of the Association before final consideration.

14.2 These By-Laws may also be amended at any regular or special meeting of the Association by a majority of the members who have secured a current license to practice law as described in Article 3 of the Constitution who are present or who have voted by absentee ballot, provided notice of the proposed amendment was contained in the notice of meeting. Absentee ballot shall mean by mail or electronic balloting methods and within time frames developed,

By-law 13 amended by adding By-law 13.3 at BOG meetings of June 12, 2001 and September 15, 2001; notice published in June/July 2001 issue of the GAVEL

By-law 14.2 amended at Annual Meeting in 2000.

By-law 4.1 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 6.2 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 8 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 9 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 10 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 12.1, 12.2, 12.3 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 14.2 amended at Annual Meeting in 2005.

By-law 11 amended at Board of Governors Meeting in 2016.

By-law 3.2 amended at Board of Governors Meeting in June 2017.

By-law 8 amended at Board of Governors Meeting in June 2017.

